FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/14/2025 8:00 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No.: 60190-7

Case #: 1040563

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAMARA LOVE,

Claimant,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara Love

PRO SE

WSBA# 29425

2526 55th AVE NE

Tacoma, Washington 98422

Phone (253) 250-6261

A. Identity of petitioner
B. Court of appeals decision
C. Issues presented for review
No. 1
No. 2
No. 3
D. Statement of the Case
E. Argument why review should be accepted
F. Conclusion
G. Appendix
Unpublished Opinion
Order denying Motion for Reconsideration
Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and Order

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases
Constitutional Provisions
Fourteenth Amendment (Amendment XIV)6
Statutes
RCW 3.50.135
Regulations and Rules
CR 38
Other Authorities

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Tamara Love, Appellant Pro Se asks this court to accept the review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In the Court's Analysis..." Here, in the filing that challenged the default order, Love failed to provide *any* reason for failing to appear at the hearing. Without any reason for why Love failed to appear, the commissioner had no grounds for determining that Love had good cause for her failure to appear. Thus, the commissioner did not abuse their discretion in denying Love's petition for review of the ALJ's default order."

The Opinion was filed March 18, 2025 and order denying a motion for reconsideration filed on April 10, 2025. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-2____ through A-5.

However the Court recognized as noted in the facts, "The commissioner affirmed the default order dismissing Love's appeal. Love filed a petition for reconsideration, in which Love finally stated that she "fell ill and did not realize" she had missed the hearing. CP at 53. The petition for reconsideration was denied. Love filed a notice of appeal in the superior court. The superior court affirmed the commissioner's decision." A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-6.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Superior Court err in not granting the motion for a jury Trial? As provided by statute: cases—Exception—Fee—Juror compensation—Jury trials in criminal cases. In all civil cases, the plaintiff or defendant may demand a jury (RCW 3.50.135) and a) Right of Jury Trial Preserved. The right of trial by jury as declared by article 1, section 21 of the constitution or as given by a statute shall be preserved to the parties inviolate (CR 38).

Was the decision court's decision to affirm the denial of the hearing unconstitutional and an error in law? The Claimant asked for reconsideration on appeal and advised of illness. (Page 46 of 59, Administrative Record). Commissioner's Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration states that there was a reasonable opportunity to present oral argument under WAC 192-04-190. The request did not result in the requested appeal. (Page 49 of 59, Administrative Record).

Was Substantial justice not done? Was the publishing an order of misconduct without facts libel? The Commissioner did not present any supporting facts or evidence substantiating the denial of the appeal, upholding Order 27932. Or make a showing that the evidence brought forth under Docket 27932 supported a showing of the preponderance of the evidence under WAC 192-100-065 for Misconduct.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Commissioner's Order dismissed the appeal for the claimant's failure to appear (Page 41 of 59, Administrative Record.) The Claimant asked for reconsideration on appeal and advised of illness. (Page 46 of 59, Administrative Record).

Commissioner's Order Denying Petition for Reconsideration states that there was a reasonable opportunity to present oral argument under WAC 192-04-190. The request did not result in the requested appeal. (Page 49 of 59, Administrative Record).

The Commissioner did not present any supporting facts or evidence substantiating the denial of the appeal, upholding Order 27932. Or make a showing that the evidence brought forth under Docket 27932 supported a showing of the preponderance of the evidence under WAC 192-100-065 for Misconduct. Or stated in any way as to how the oral argument supported the employer's appeal for misconduct. There were no facts or analyses enumerated in the Order.

The denial of the request for an appeal has created financial hardship by means of a debt for overpayment which had a negative impact on the distribution of past, present, and furture unemployment benefits.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court should accept review to avoid errors of law and uphold the Constitution of the United States. The Appellant should be granted a new hearing, jury trial and

administrative damages including attorney's fees and court costs.

The appellate court's affirmation of the Commissioner's decisions to deny a new hearing is a violation of the Constitution as it does not to provide due process of procedure. Upon realizing the error of not providing information as to why the hearing was missed, the Appellant supplied that information with a Petition. (Page 46 of 59, Administrative Record) It was a violation of statute RCW 3.50.135 for the Superior Court not to grant a jury trial as requested. Even if the Court agrees that the commissioner's decision was not an abuse of discretion; There are conflicting facts stated in Order 27932 (Page 14 of 59, Administrative Record). The appellant supplied all information to show she reacted and acted within the scope of her employment. The result of the affirmation was that Substantial justice was not done and the court could not review the merits of the case which is a violation of substantial due process under the 14th Amendment.

F. CONCLUSION

Justice requires the reversal of the trial court decision with directions to enter judgment declaring that the order of default 308897 is vacated as well as the order 279232 reversing the original determination for misconduct on the grounds that it had no basis in fact. It is further requested that the court order the reinstatement of the original determination award of unemployment benefits as awarded by the Employment Security

Department. As such the Appellant seeks, administrative remedies including

undispursed unemployment benefits and interest in the amount of \$2,405.62, Treble

damages in the amount of \$25,000, and reasonable attorney's fees and court costs in the

amount of \$26,846.

In addition, the court should remand the case for a jury trial and a new

administrative hearing, as the Employment Security Department should be responsible

for civil liabilities including negligence, libel, and administrative damages;

Constitutional violations as well as violations of other state and federal statutes.

[If the petition is prepared using word processing software, include the following statement: This document contains 17,999 words, excluding the parts of the document

exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.]