FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2025 10:07 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1040563

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAMARA LOVE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT

RESPONDENT.

DEPARTMENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

CALEB W. GIEGER, WSBA #61561 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91029 1125 Washington St. SE Olympia, WA 98504-0110 Phone: 360-753-2702

Fax: 360-664-0228

E-mail: Caleb.Gieger@atg.wa.gov

LalOlyEf@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

After Tamara Love failed to appear at her administrative hearing, an administrative law judge found her in default and dismissed her appeal. Love sought review of the default order by the Commissioner of the Employment Security Department, requiring her to show good cause for her failure to appear. WAC 192-04-185(4). However, Love's petition for review did not explain why she missed her hearing. The Commissioner correctly concluded that Love did not establish good cause for missing her hearing and affirmed the default order, as required by Employment Security Department rules.

Applying well-settled precedent in an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Commissioner's final order dismissing Love's appeal. *Love v. Emp. Sec. Dep't*, No. 60190-7-II, 2025 WL 844115 (Wash Ct. App., Mar. 18, 2025) (unpublished). That decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or any other decision of the Court of Appeals, nor does it involve a significant

constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest. Further review by this Court is unwarranted. RAP 13.4(b).

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the Commissioner properly exercise her discretion by affirming a default order when Love offered no explanation for why she did not appear at her administrative hearing?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Love Failed to Appear at a Scheduled Administrative Hearing That She Requested

After the Department determined that Love had improperly been granted unemployment benefits, it issued a determination letter assessing an overpayment to recover benefits that had already been paid to her. Clerk's Papers (CP) 9–15. Love appealed the determination and requested an administrative hearing to contest the overpayment assessment. CP 16.

The Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) scheduled a telephonic administrative hearing and sent Love a Notice of

Hearing. CP 59–66. The Notice of Hearing provided the scheduled time and date of the hearing as well as instructions for how to call into the hearing. CP 59–60. On the first page, under the bolded heading, "What happens if I do not call into the hearing," the Notice informed Love: "if YOU filed the appeal and you don't call in, the judge may dismiss your appeal." CP 59.

The Notice also instructed Love to call OAH as soon as possible if she needed a different hearing date. CP 59. In an attachment to the Notice, under the bolded heading, "What if I need to reschedule my hearing," OAH once again instructed Love to call as soon as possible if she needed to reschedule. CP 62.

OAH held a telephonic hearing on the scheduled date. CP 31. However, Love failed to appear and did not contact OAH to reschedule or otherwise inform OAH that she was unable to attend. CP 31. The administrative law judge (ALJ) waited 15 minutes before entering an order of default dismissing the appeal. CP 31.

B. Love Appealed the Default Order to the Commissioner but Did Not Explain Why She Failed to Appear at the Hearing

OAH sent the order of default to Love, which included instructions on how to move to vacate the default order. CP 32–33. Attached to the order was a form claimants may use to petition the Department's Commissioner for review. CP 35. In bold and partially underlined text, the form instructed, "If you failed to attend the hearing, please tell us the reason why." CP 35. Love used this form to submit her petition to the Commissioner for review of the default order. CP 39.

Despite the form's instructions, Love did not explain why she failed to appear at the hearing or request a continuance. CP 39–45. Instead, she addressed the merits of the Department's original determination, explaining why she should have been eligible for unemployment benefits: "I did a job search, I found a job applied for standby when requested by an ESD rep when I had a phone interview [sic]." CP 39.

C. The Commissioner Affirmed the Default Order Because Love Did Not Explain Why She Missed the Hearing

The Commissioner affirmed the default order, explaining, "Contrary to the clear instructions for filing a Petition for Review set out on the face of the [default order], no reason for claimant's failure to appear at the duly noted hearing is alleged in the Petition for Review." CP 48. Accordingly, there was "no basis for a finding that nonappearance was for an excusable reason." *Id*.

Love then petitioned the Commissioner for reconsideration. CP 52–53. Only then did Love assert that illness caused her to miss the hearing. CP 53. However, WAC 192-04-190 authorizes the Commissioner to reconsider a decision if there is clerical error or if the petitioner was denied a reasonable opportunity to present her case. Finding neither, the Commissioner denied Love's petition for reconsideration. CP 56–57. Love then appealed to the Pierce County Superior Court, which affirmed the Commissioner's decision. CP 112–15.

Love appealed the superior court's decision to the Court of Appeals, Division Two. The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the Commissioner's decision. *Love*, No. 60190-7-II, 2025 WL 844115 (Wash Ct. App., Mar. 18, 2025) (unpublished). The court held the Commissioner acted within her discretion when denying Love's petition for review because Love did not provide any reason for missing her administrative hearing. *Id.* at *2.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals correctly applied well-settled precedent. There is no conflict with appellate decisions, nor does the case raise any constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest. Love has also failed to properly argue any of the considerations for discretionary review contained in RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Well-Settled Precedent

The Commissioner did not abuse her discretion, and the Court of Appeals properly applied precedent to affirm the dismissal of Love's administrative appeal.

The Administrative Procedure Act governs judicial review of the Commissioner's decision. **RCW** 34.05.510: RCW 50.32.120. Under the APA, an ALJ may enter a default order when a party fails to attend an administrative hearing. 34.05.440(2). Under the Department's rule, the RCW Commissioner may set aside a default order only if the petitioner shows good cause for either failing to appear or failing to request a continuance. WAC 192-04-185(4). In precedential decisions, the Commissioner has determined that to establish good cause, the petitioner must demonstrate circumstances that would "effectively deter a reasonably prudent person from appearing." In Re Shay, Emp. Sec. Comm'r Dec.2d 970, 2011 WL 8129816, at *2 (Wash. Emp. Sec. Dep't April 29, 2011). Precedential Commissioner's decisions "are to be treated as persuasive authority by a reviewing court." *Graves v. Dep't of Emp. Sec.*, 144 Wn. App. 302, 309, 182 P.3d 1004 (2008) (citing *Martini v. Emp. Sec. Dep't*, 98 Wn. App. 791, 795, 990 P.2d 981 (2000)).

An administrative decision about whether to set aside a default order is subject to judicial review under an abuse of discretion standard. *See e.g., Graves*, 144 Wn. App. at 309 (citing *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 582, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979)); *Hwang v. McMahill*, 103 Wn. App. 945, 949, 15 P.3d 172 (2000), *review denied*, 144 Wn.2d 1011, 31 P.3d 1185 (2001). An abuse of discretion is a decision that is "manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons." *Graves*, 144 Wn. App. at 309.

Here, despite the clear instructions on the form Love used to submit her petition for Commissioner's review of the default order, Love failed to give any reason explaining why she did not attend the hearing, nor did she request the hearing be continued. CP 39–45. Rather, Love only explained why she believed she should be eligible for unemployment benefits. CP 39.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the Commissioner acted within her discretion. *Love*, 2025 WL 844115 at *2. The Commissioner could not have found good cause because Love failed to provide *any* explanation to establish good cause. *Id.* Love's petition establishes no conflicts with other appellate decisions or decisions by this Court.

In her Petition for Reconsideration to the Commissioner, Love asserted for the first time that she had missed her administrative hearing because she was sick. CP 53. But a decision to deny reconsideration is not subject to judicial review. *K.S. Tacoma Holdings, LLC v. Shorelines Hearings Bd.*, 166 Wn. App. 117, 124 n.5, 272 P.3d 876 (2012) (quoting RCW 34.05.570(5)); RCW 34.05.470(5) ("An order denying reconsideration . . . is not subject to judicial review."); WAC 192-04-190(4). Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly did not consider arguments made in Love's Petition for Reconsideration, nor are they properly before this Court.

Because the Court of Appeals applied well-settled precedent, and Love has provided no authority to show a conflict between decisions from this Court or other Court of Appeals decisions—and the undersigned is aware of none—this Court should deny Love's petition for review.

B. Love's Appeal Does Not Involve a "Significant Question" Under the United States or Washington Constitutions

Love asserts that the Court of Appeals decision violates the Constitution because it denies her due process and her right to a jury trial. Petition for Rev. at 6. This is incorrect.

First, due process requires notice and opportunity to be heard. *Fields v. Dep't of Early Learning*, 193 Wn.2d 36, 44, 434 P.3d 999 (2019); *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976). Here, the issuance of a default order after Love failed to appear at a duly noted administrative hearing, and the Court's decision affirming the default order, does not amount to a denial of due process rights. *See Graves*, 144 Wn. App. at 310–11 (affirming denial of a motion to vacate a default

judgment in the absence of a showing of good cause for failure to attend an administrative hearing).

Regarding Love's request for a jury trial, this is not a civil trial. This is an appeal governed by the APA in which the facts are limited to the agency record and "[j]udicial review of disputed issues of fact shall be conducted by the court without a jury". RCW 34.05.558. Love is not entitled to a jury trial. See Garcia v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 10 Wn. App. 2d 885, 909, 451 P.3d 1107 (2019) ("In an APA declaratory judgment action, judicial review of disputed facts is conducted by the trial court without a jury and is confined to the agency record . . . "); see also State v. State Credit Ass'n, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 617, 621, 657 P.2d 327 (1983) (constitutional right to jury trial does not apply to "statutorily created actions without common law analogues" (citing State Bd. of Med. Exam'rs v. Macy, 92 Wash. 614, 159 P. 801 (1916)).

Because the Commissioner and Court of Appeals conducted well-established, lawful reviews of Love's petitions,

Love's claims for civil liability are not before this Court, and Love has never been entitled to a jury trial at any stage of these proceedings, her petition does not involve a significant question of constitutional law. The Court should deny review.

C. The Remaining Issues Raised by Love Are Not Properly Before the Court

In her petition to this Court, Love raises several other issues and requests for relief. None of them are properly before this Court and, therefore, cannot form a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

First, Love asserts several civil claims such as negligence and libel. Petition for Rev. at 4, 7. She also requests attorney fees. *Id.* at 6–7. But this is an appeal of a final agency order; review by the Court is limited to the correctness of the Commissioner's decision. RCW 50.32.040; RCW 34.05.570(3); *see also Campbell v. State Emp. Sec. Dep't*, 180 Wn.2d 566, 571, 326 P.3d 713 (2014). Reviewing courts are limited to the remedies provided in Title 50 RCW. RCW 50.32.180; *see also Wash. Trucking Ass'ns v. State Emp. Sec. Dep't*, 188 Wn.2d 198, 224,

393 P.3d 761 (2017) (holding exclusive remedy provision of the Employment Security Act barred a tortious interference claim brought by an association of employers).

Accordingly, this Court can only affirm, reverse, or modify the Commissioner's decision. *See* RCW 50.32.150 (directing courts to either determine the Commissioner acted within her authority or else reverse or modify the decision). It cannot award damages. *See* RCW 34.05.574(3) ("The court may award damages, compensation, or ancillary relief only to the extent expressly authorized by another provision of law.").

Second, Love argues the merits of her underlying claim for unemployment benefits by alleging the ALJ erred in determining Love engaged in misconduct. Petition for Rev. at 6. However, the ALJ dismissed Love's appeal because she failed to appear. CP 31. Neither the ALJ nor the Commissioner considered the merits of her appeal. CP 31, 48. Because the agency order subject to judicial review under RCW 34.05.570(3) had nothing to do with the merits of her appeal and was based

solely on her failure to show good cause for why she did not attend her hearing, the merits of Love's underlying claim are not before the Court.

Because these arguments are both outside the scope of Love's petition for judicial review and without merit, they do not present grounds under RAP 13.4(b) for the Court to grant review. This Court should deny Love's petition.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reason, the Court should deny review.

//

//

//

//

CERTIFICATION

I certify that this document contains 2234 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.